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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
LBF TRAVEL, INC.,
Plaintiff,

FIRST AMENDED
COMPLAINT

v.
FAREPORTAL, INC. and WK TRAVEL, INC.
Defendants.

Case No. 13 Civ. 9143 (LAK)
(GWG)
TRIAL BY JURY
DEMANDED

LBF Travel, Inc. ("LBF Travel"), by their counsel, WILSON, ELSER, MOSKOWITZ,
EDELMAN & DICKER LLP, brings this First Amended Complaint against Fareportal, Inc.
("Fareportal") and WK Travel, Inc. ("WK Travel") (collectively, "Defendants") alleging the
following':

NATURE OF ACTION
1.

This is an action to recover for Defendants' willful acts of: (a) trademark

infringement, unfair competition, and false designation of origin under 15 U.S.C . .§§ 1051 et seq.
(the Lanham Act); (b) trademark infringement and unfair competition in violation of New York
State common law; (c) trademark dilution and injury to business reputation under New York.
General Business Law ("NY GBL") § 360-1; (d) trade name infringement under NY GBL § 1
33 ; (e) unfair and deceptive trade practices under NY GBL § 349; (f) false advertising under NY
GBL., § 350; (g) unfair business practice under New York State common law; (h) unjust
enrichment under New York State common law; and (i) for cancellation of Defendants' U.S.
T rademark Registrations .
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LBF Travel is an online discount travel services business that owns and operates

several prominent and well-known online travel companies, which offer discount travel products
to online customers through websites www.smartfares.com, and www.travelation.com.
3.

Upon information and belief, Defendants are affiliated companies under common

ownership and/or control that operate competing online travel websites www.cheapoair.com,
www.onetravel.com,

www.cheapostay.com,

www.farebuzz.com

and

www.insanelycheapflights.com. Defendants are direct competitors of LBF Travel in the market
of on line travel services.
4.

Defendants have attempted to develop and enhance their consumer base by

infringing on Plaintiffs trademarks and trade name, and otherwise engaging in unfair
competition in violation of federal and New York law, to the significant injury of Plaintiff and
the New York consumer public.
5.

Defendants, with full knowledge of Plaintiffs existence and their rights in the

federally-registered TRA VELA TION trademark and their www.smartfares.com trade name and
brand, to which New York common law protection attaches, have made infringing use of
Plaintiffs trademarks and trade names in a manner that is likely to cause consumer confusion
and dilute and tarnish Plaintiffs trademarks and trade names.
6.

Specifically, Defendants have improperly infringed upon and diluted Plaintiffs

trademarks by purchasing Plaintiffs trademarks as keywords from Google and other search
engines (activity known as "search engine marketing" or "SEM"), so that when an internet user
searches for "Travelation" or "smartfares" on Google or another search engine, advertisement
hyperlink for one of the websites of the Defendants, LBF Travel's Competitors, will appear on
the first page of the search results. This enables Defendants to use the TRA VELA TION trade
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mark and the www.smartfares.com trade name to place their advertising hyperlinks in front of
consumers who specifically search for TRA VELA TION or "smartfares," thereby diverting a
percentage of such Internet users from LBF Travel and enjoying and benefitting from all the
goodwill and "buyer's momentum" associated with Plaintiff-ls valuable trademark and trade
name, but at a fraction of the cost.
7.

Defendants thereby profit financially from infringing upon and diluting Plaintiffs

protected trademarks.
8.

Furthermore, Defendants have engaged in false advertising and other consumer

protection violations, by advertising misleading percentage-off sales without disclosure of basis
for comparison, advertising limited-time "sales" when such savings were in fact available on an
ongoing basis, and otherwise creating an impression for consumers that Defendants offer
significantly better prices, and encouraging consumers to not comparison-shop. Such activities
have caused harm to the consumer public in general, as consumers have been misled as to the
cost/value of the travel services provided by Defendants. Defendants' conduct has further caused
damages to

LBF Travel, who is forced to compete with overstated discounts and non-existent

savings that Defendants claim to offer in order to not lose its price-sensitive customers to
Defendants' unfair competition practices.

CEASE AND DESIST LETTER
9.

Prior to initiating this action, Plaintiff attempted to resolve the matter of trademark

and trade name infringement out of court by sending a cease and desist letter to the Defendants.
10.

The cease and desist letter included, among other things, the allegations set forth in

this Complaint.
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The cease and desist letter was sent to the Defendants' legal counsel via electronic

mail on October 28, 2013. A true and correct copy of the October 28, 2013 cease and desist letter
is annexed hereto as Exhibit A.
Defendants' legal counsel acknowledged receipt of the October 28, 2013 cease and

12.

desist letter in the email correspondence dated October 30, 2013, and claimed that Defendants
were "not engaging in any infringing activity with respect to LB F's trademarks." A true and
correct copy of the Defendants' counsel's October 30, 2013 letter is annexed hereto as Exhibit B.
10.

Despite Defendants' counsel's October 30, 2013 acknowledgment and assurances,

Defendants continued the same infringing activity with respect to Plaintiffs trademarks that the
cease and desist letter sought to prevent.

THE PARTIES
11.

Plaintiff LBF Travel is a Delaware corporation with a place of business at 4545

Murphy Canyon Road, Suite 210 San Diego, CA 92123.
Defendant Fareportal is a New York corporation with a place of business at 213

12.

West 35th Street, Suite 1201, New York, New York 10001
Defendant WK Travel is a Nevada corporation with a place of business at 213

13.

West 35th Street, Suite 1201, New York, New York 10001.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
15.

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction of this action on the following basis:
(i)

Under 15 U.S.C. §1121(actions arising under 15 U.S.C., Chapter 22-

Trademarks) since this action involves questions arising under the Lanham Act §43(a), 15
U.S.C. § 1114, § 1064, et seq.;
(ii)

Under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question) since this action arises under

the Lanham Act §43(a), 15 U.S.C. §1114 et seq.;
4
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Under 28 U .S.C. § 1332 (diversity of citizenship) since Plaintiff and

Defendants are corporate citizens of different states;
(iv)

Under 28 U.S.C. §1338 (acts of Congress relating to trademarks) since

this action arises under the Lanham Act §43(a), 15 U.S.C. §1114 et seq.;

16.

(v)

Under 28 U.S.C. § 1367 (supplemental jurisdiction); and

(vi)

Under 28 U.S.C. §§2201-02 of the Federal Declaratory Judgment Act.
Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391 (b) and (c), because a

substantial part of the harm sought to be avoided, and a substantial part of the events and
omissions giving rise to the claims asserted herein, occurred within this District.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND
I.

Plaintiff's Business and Trademark Holdings
17.

Plaintiff LBF Travel is an online discount travel services business that owns

travel brands SMARTFARES and TRAVELATION ("LBF's Marks"), and operates websites
under those brands under the Uniform Resource Locator ("URL") http://www.smartfares.com
and http://www.travelation.com, respectively.
18.

Through great expense and care, LBF Travel has become well known and famous

in its market and has acquired a reputation for excellence and outstanding service to customers.
As a result, LBF Travel's reputation, and the goodwill associated with LBF's Marks are very
valuable business assets, which LBF Travel vigorously protects.
18.

Since at least 2010, LBF Travel has used SMARTFARES, and operated the

website located at the URL http://www.smartfares.com; the website has been active in
commerce since at least 2007. On November 21, 2013, LBF Travel filed an application,
serial number 86-125,535, to register SMARTFARES with the United States Patent and
Trademark Office ("USPTO"). The application is pending.
5
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business travel

products.

Through the

SMARTFARES website, LBF Travel provides travel information to consumers and allows
consumers to book plane tickets, hotel accommodations, rental cars, cruises and vacations.
19.

Since at least 2010, LBF Travel has used TRA VELA TION and operated the

related website http://www.travelation.com; the website has been active in commerce since at
least 2005. Since 2008 there has been a federal registration number 77,263,149 for
TRA VELA TI ON, which is owned by LBF Travel. TRA VELA TION is a leading on line source
of discounted leisure and business travel products. Through the TRA VELA TION website, LBF
Travel provides travel information to consumers and allows consumers to book plane tickets,
hotel accommodations, rental cars, cruises and vacations.
20.

Plaintiff has used LB F's Marks in connection with, inter alias providing air travel

bookings, hotel reservations and booking services for car rentals, packages and insurance,
continuously since the dates listed above and far prior to the acts of Defendants complained of
herein.
21.

Because of the nature of LBF Travel's services, which are primarily online

discount travel services, the vast majority of potential customers of LBF Travel come to LBF
Travel's websites via the Internet to do business and search for travel services.
22.

LBF Travel conducts a substantial amount of its business over the Internet,

receiving thousands of visitors to its websites each month. LBF Travel advertises over the
Internet, including advertising at Google and other search engines.
23.

LBF's Marks have become distinctive and famous and serve to distinguish LBF

Travel's reputation, goods and services from its competition. As a result of extensive use and
promotion by Plaintiff of LBF's Marks, Plaintiff owns the valuable goodwill that is symbolized
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by them. LBF's Marks have come to be associated in the minds of consumers throughout the
country with Plaintiffs services, and the use of LB F's Marks, key parts thereof and close
variations thereof substantially increases the marketability of travel, reservation, and booking
services rendered by Plaintiff through its www.smartfares.com and www.travelation.com
websites. Part of the benefit of this notoriety is that potential customers will search specifically
for LB F's Marks through a variety of Internet search engines, including Google.

II.
24.

Defendants' Business Operations
Upon information and belief, Defendants are affiliated companies with common

ownership and/or management.
25.

Upon information and belief, Fareportal owns a portfolio of travel brands,

including CheapOair and CheapOstay, and operates websites under those brands from the URL
http://www.cheapOair.com and http//www.cheapOstay.com, respectively. CheapOair offers
discounted airfare, airline tickets, and vacation packages to online consumers. CheapOstay
offers discounted hotel accommodations to consumers.
26.

Upon information and belief, Fareportal owns the following federally-registered

trademarks:

Mark
CHEAPOAIR

I

Reg. No.

Good And Services

3,576,166

(a) Advertising services for travel services, namely,
promoting the goods, services, brand identity and
commercial information and news of travel and travel
related companies on the Internet;
(b) Providing an on-line computer database in the field of
travel information services; travel and tour information
service; travel and tour ticket reservation service; travel
services, namely, providing fare and rate information for

1

A copy of the Certificate of U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3,576,166 for mark CHEAPOAIR is annexed hereto
as Exhibit C.
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transportation bookings and reservations for flights, car
rentals, cruises, rail travel, and tours via computer;
providing travel information and news via computer;
providing links to websites of others featuring travel;
(c) Providing travel lodging information services and
travel lodging booking agency services for travelers.
CheapOstayz

3,672,700

(a) Advertising and marketing services, namely,
promoting the goods and services of others;
(b) Providing an on-line computer database in the field of
travel information services; Providing links to web sites of
others featuring travel; Provision of travel information;
Travel and tour information service; Travel and tour ticket
reservation service;

CHEAPOAIR.COM
THE ONLY WAY
TO 00!! 3

3,580,258

CHEAPOAIR.COM
THE ONLY WAY
TO GO!! (stylized
mark) 4

3,553,213

(c) Making hotel reservations for others; Providing travel
lodging information services and travel lodging booking
agency services for travelers.
Providing links to web sites of others featuring travel;
Travel and tour information service; Travel and tour ticket
reservation service.
Providing links to web sites of others featuring travel;
Travel and tour information service; Travel and tour
ticket reservation service.

27.

The terms CHEAPOAIR and CHEAPOSTAY are compound terms.

28.

The term CHEAPOAJR is a compound term consisting of the words "CHEAP"

and "AIR" with the letter "0" juxtaposed between them.
29.

The term CHEAPOSTAY is a compound term consisting of the words "CHEAP"

and "STA Y" with the letter "O" juxtaposed between them.
30.

Online dictionary www.dictionary.com provides the following definitions,

among others, for the term "CHEAP":
2

A copy of the Certificate of U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3,672,700 for mark CHEAPOST A Y is annexed
hereto as Exhibit D.
3
A copy of the Certificate of U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3,580,258 for mark CHEAPOAIR.COM THE ONLY
WAY TO GO! !is annexed hereto as Exhibit E.
4
A copy of the Certificate of U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3,553,213 for mark CHEAPOAIR.COM THE ONLY
WAY TO GO!! (stylized mark) is annexed hereto as Exhibit F.
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1. costing very little; relatively low in price; inexpensive: a cheap dress.
2. costing little labor or trouble: Words are cheap.
3. charging low prices: a very cheap store.
4. of little account; of small value; mean; shoddy: cheap conduct; cheap
workmanship.
5. embarrassed; sheepish: He felt cheap about his mistake.
31.

Similarly, www.dictionary.com provides the following definitions, among others,

of the term "AIR":
1. a mixture of nitrogen, oxygen, and minute amounts of other gases that
surrounds the earth and forms its atmosphere.
2. a stir in the atmosphere; a light breeze.
3. overhead space; sky: The planes.filled the air.
4. circulation; publication; publicity: to give air to one's theories.
5. the general character or complexion of anything; appearance: His early
work had an air offreshness and originality.
32.

The combination of the words "CHEAP" and "AIR" with the letter "O"

juxtaposed between them to form the compound term CHEAPOAIR does nothing to change the
meaning of the individual words CHEAP and AIR.
33.

Thus, the term CHEAPOAIR is descriptive, if not generic, for the services in

connection with which it is being used, i.e., "Advertising services for travel services, namely,
promoting the goods, services, brand identity and commercial information and news of travel
and travel related companies on the Internet;" "Providing an on-line computer database in the
field of travel information services; travel and tour information service; travel and tour ticket
reservation service; travel services, namely, providing fare and rate information for
transportation bookings and reservations for flights, car rentals, cruises, rail travel, and tours via
computer; providing travel information and news via computer; providing links to websites of
others featuring travel;" and "Providing travel lodging information services and travel lodging
booking agency services for travelers."

9
4843072.1

Case 1:13-cv-09143-LAK-GWG Document 13

34.

Filed 03/07/14 Page 10 of 92

Likewise, www.dictionary.com provides the following definitions, among others,

for the term "STAY":
1. to spend some time in a place, in a situation, with a person or group, etc.:
He stayed in the army for ten years.
2. to continue to be as specified, as to condition or state: to stay clean.
3. to hold out or endure, as in a contest or task (followed by with or at ):
Please stay with the project as long as you can.
4. to keep up, as with a competitor (followed by with ).
5. Poker. to continue in a hand by matching an ante, bet, or raise.
6. to stop or halt.
7. to pause or wait, as for a moment, before proceeding or continuing; linger
or tarry.
8. Archaic. to cease or desist.
9. Archaic. to stand firm.
10. to stop or halt.
11. to hold back, detain, or restrain, as from going further.
12. to suspend or delay (actions, proceedings, etc.).
13. to appease or satisfy temporarily the cravings of (the stomach, appetite,
etc.).
14. to remain through or during (a period of time): We stayed two days in San
Francisco.
35.

The combination of the words "CHEAP" and "STAY" with the letter "O"

juxtaposed between them to form the compound term CHEAPOSTA Y does nothing to change
the meaning of the individual words CHEAP and STAY.
36.

Thus, the term CHEAPOSTA Y is descriptive, if not generic, for the services in

connection with which it is being used, i.e. "Advertising and marketing services, namely,
promoting the goods and services of others;" "Providing an on-line computer database in the
field of travel information services; Providing links to web sites of others featuring travel;
Provision of travel information; Travel and tour information service; Travel and tour ticket
reservation service;" and "Making hotel reservations for others; Providing travel lodging
information services and travel lodging booking agency services for travelers."
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Upon information and belief, WK Travel uses the ONETRAVEL mark and

operates the website located at the URL http://www.onetravel.com. Onetravel.com offers
discounted airfare, airline tickets, and vacation packages to online consumers.
38.

Upon information and belief, Defendants use the INSANEL YCHEAPFLIGHTS

mark and operate the website located at the URL http://www.insanelycheapflights.com.
InsanelyCheapFlights.com offers discounted airfare, accommodations, car rental, and vacation
packages to online consumers.
39.

Upon information and belief, Defendants use the FAREBUZZ mark and operate

the website located at the URL http://www.farebuzz.com. Farebuzz.com offers discounted
airfare, accommodations, car rental, and vacation packages to online consumers.
40.

Upon information and belief, Defendants own several brands for which they have

applications pending for federal registration before the USPTO, and which they use to offer
travel services to online consumers:

Mark
CHEAPOAIR.COM

Filing No.
85566395

Good And Services
(a) Advertising services for travel services, namely,
promoting the goods, services, brand identity and
commercial information and news of travel and travel
related companies on the Internet;
(b) Providing an on-line computer database in the field of
travel information services; travel and tour information
service; travel and tour ticket reservation service; travel
services, namely, providing fare and rate information for
transportation bookings and reservations for flights, car
rentals, cruises, rail travel, and tours via computer; and
providing travel information and news via computer;
(c) Providing travel lodging information services and
travel lodging booking agency services for travelers.

www .cheapOair.com

85564451

(a) Providing an on-line computer database in the field of
travel information services; travel and tour information
service; travel and tour ticket reservation service; travel
services, namely, providing fare and rate information for
11
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transportation bookings and reservations for flights, car
rentals, cruises, rail travel, and tours via computer; and
providing travel information and news via computer;

ONETRAVEL

41.

85,620,094

(b) Providing travel lodging information services and
travel lodging booking agency services for travelers.
Providing an on-line computer database in the field of
travel information services; travel and tour information
services; travel and tour ticket reservation services; travel
services, namely, providing fare and rate information for
transportation bookings and reservations for flights, car
rentals, cruises, rail travel, and tours via computer;
providing travel information and news via computer.

Defendants are direct competitors of Plaintiff in the area of on! ine travel services,

offering similar travel products through similar means to the business- and leisure-traveling
public.
42.

Defendants have used LBF's Marks to increase the marketability of Defendants'

own travel, reservation, and booking services through the purchase of LBF's Marks as
advertising keywords from search engines (as explained below), in order to wrongfully suggest
to the consumer public that their services are affiliated with, sponsored by, authorized by, or
provided by Plaintiff for the purpose of misleading consumers into purchasing Defendants'
services rather than Plaintiffs services.

III.

Defendants' Trademark Registrations Were Improperly Issued
43 .

U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3,576, 166 for the mark CHEAPOAIR (Exhibit

C) issued as a result of a trademark application that Defendants filed with the USPTO on
September 11, 2008. The U.S. Trademark Serial Number assigned to such application by the
USPTO is 77-567,343 (Exhibit C).
44.

U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3,580,258 for the mark CHEAPOAIR.COM

THE ONLY WAY TO GO!! (Exhibit E) issued as a result of a trademark application that
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Defendants filed with USPTO on July 21, 2008. The U.S. Trademark Serial Number assigned to
such application by the USPTO is 77-527,426 (Exhibit E).
45.

U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3,553,213 for the mark CHEAPOAIR.COM

THE ONLY WAY TO GO!! (stylized mark) issued as a result of a trademark application that
Defendants filed with USPTO on March 14, 2008. The U.S. Trademark Serial Number assigned
to such application by the USPTO is 77-422,393 (Exhibit F).
46.

American Travel Solutions, LLC (a non-party to the present matter) is the owner

of U.S. Trademark Registration No. 2,890,981 for the mark CHEAPAIR INC. for use in
connection with "travel agency services, namely making reservations and bookings for airplane
transportation, car rentals and arranging cruises".
47.

American Travel Solutions, LLC's U.S. trademark Registration No. 2,890,981 for

the mark CHEAPAIR INC. issued on the principal register of the USPTO on October 5, 2004,
long before any one of Defendants' applications identified above were filed in 2008. A copy of
American Travel Solutions, LLC's Certificate for U.S. Trademark Registration No. 2,890,981 for
the mark CHEAPAIR INC. is annexed hereto as Exhibit G.
48.

American Travel Solutions, LLC is also the owner of the U.S. Trademark

Registration No. 3,813,293 for the mark CHEAPAIR.COM, issued on the principal register of
the USPTO on July 6, 2010. A copy of American Travel Solutions, LLC's Certificate for U.S.
Trademark Registration No. 3,813,293 for the mark CHEAPAIR.COM is annexed hereto as
Exhibit H.
49.

On February 4, 2013, American Travel Solutions, LLC initiated an Opposition

Proceeding against the Defendants, by which they oppose the registration of Defendants' U.S.
Trademark Application Serial No. 85-566,395 for the mark CHEAPOAIR.COM. A copy of

13
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American Travel Solutions LLC's Notice of Opposition and Opposition as filed with the USPTO
is annexed hereto as Exhibit I.
50.

On December 7, 2012, American Travel Solutions, LLC initiated an Opposition

Proceeding against the Defendants, by which they oppose the registration of Defendants' U.S.
Trademark Application Serial No. 85-564,451 for the mark WWW.CHEAPOAIR.COM. A copy
of American Travel Solutions LLC's Notice of Opposition and Opposition as filed with the
USPTO is annexed hereto as Exhibit J.
51.

Defendants have had constructive notice of American Travel Solutions LLC's

U.S. Trademark Registration No. 2,890,981 for the mark CHEAPAIR INC. and U.S. Trademark
Registration No. 3,813,293 for the mark CHEAPAIR.COM, both issued by the USPTO on the
Principal Register.
52.

American Travel Solutions LLC has been using the mark CHEAPAIR m

commerce since at least February 1, 1994 (Exhibit G).
53.

American Travel Solutions LLC has been using the mark CHEAPAIR.COM in

commerce since September 2003 (Exhibit H).
54.

Defendants have been using the mark CHEAPOAIR in commerce since at least

July I, 2005 (Exhibit C); almost eleven years after American Travel Solutions LLC started using
its mark CHEAPAIR in commerce.
55.

Defendants have been using the mark CHEAPOAIR.COM THE ONLY WAY

TO GO!! in commerce since at least October 15, 2005 (Exhibit E); almost two years after
American Travel Solutions LLC started using its mark CHEAPAIR.COM in commerce in
September 2003.

14
4843072.1

Case 1:13-cv-09143-LAK-GWG Document 13

56.

Filed 03/07/14 Page 15 of 92

Defendants' marks CHEAPOAIR and CHEAPOAIR.COM sound the same, look

the same and convey the same commercial impression as American Travel Solutions LLC's
marks CHEAPAIR and CHEAPAIR.COM.
57.

Defendants' marks and services travel in the same routes of trade and target the

same consumers as American Travel Solutions LLC marks.
58.

Thus, as American Travel Solutions LLC has asserted in its Opposition

Proceedings against Defendants' U.S. Trademark Applications, Defendants' "use of the marks
CHEAPOAIR and CHEAPOAIR.COM is likely to cause confusion, mistake and deception with
American Travel LLC's CHEAP AIR and CHEAPAIR.COM marks." While Plaintiff did not file
another opposition proceeding against Defendants' U.S. Trademark Applications as such
proceeding would be redundant, Plaintiff is nonetheless similarly situated as American Travel
Solutions LLC with respect to the damages to Plaintiff business that would result from
registration of these marks
59.

In addition, Defendants' specimens filed with the USPTO to show use are

improper because they do not provide evidence of use of Defendants' marks in commerce.
60.

In view of all of the foregoing, the USPTO improperly issued Defendants'

registrations identified above.
61.

As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' Registrations, Plaintiff has

sustained irreparable harm and injury.
62.

Defendants' filed a Complaint in the matter captioned Fareportal, Inc. and WK

Travel, Inc. v. LBF Travel, Inc. and Globester LLC, which is currently pending before the
United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, Docket No. 13-CV-2412,
alleging, among other things, that Plaintiff has infringed on Defendants' trademarks

15
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CHEAPOAIR, CHEAPOSTAY and CHEAPOAIR.COM THE ONLY WAY TO GO!! (the
"2412 Matter"). Defendants' initiation of the 2412 Matter created a case of actual controversy
within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. §2201 et seq. thus warranting the declaratory relief sought by
Plaintiff in this matter.
63.

Unless Defendants' marks are declared invalid and unenforceable and their

Registrations are cancelled, Plaintiff will continue to suffer further irreparable injury and harm.

IV.

Facts Common to All Claims for Relief

A. Background on Federal and Common Law Trademark Infringement in Search
Engine Marketing
64.

Internet users have two primary ways of attempting to find the website for a

particular company. First, a user may guess that the website of a particular company will use the
company's name or trademark as a "domain name" (the website's digital location on the
Internet); and type in that domain name into an Internet browser, which would then display the
contents of the company's website. The second option an Internet user has to find the website of
the company he or she is looking for is to type in that company's name or known trademarks into
an Internet search engine, of which Google is one.
65.

Google offers a program called "AdWords" which allows advertisers to bid for

their advertising hyperlinks to appear in response to particular search terms input by Internet
users (hereafter, "Keywords"). The advertising hyperlinks, called "sponsored links", appear
either to the right of the search results, or immediately above the search results. A sponsored link
is a hyperlink, which contains the text of the advertiser's ad, and allows the Internet user to use
their mouse to "click" on the link, which brings the Internet user directly to the advertiser's
commercial website. The advertisers pay defendant Google based upon the number of "clicks"

16
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on these sponsored links. Advertisers bid for placement of their advertisements for each possible
variation of a Keyword, as there is limited space on defendant Google's search results page.
66.

The so-called "sponsored links" do not always clearly identify themselves as

advertisements, and Google's layout of the ads does not conspicuously identify them as such.
This is particularly true of the sponsored links which appear at the top of the search results.
These ads at the top of the search results are designed by Google to look like part of the "nonsponsored" search results, and by virtue of the fact that they appear at the top of the list of
Search Results, Internet users may infer that they are the most relevant websites on the Search
Results page.
67.

Other search engines also offer online advertising programs associated with

specific words or phrases, commonly referred to as Search Engine Marketing ("SEM"). Through
SEM, an advertiser's advertisements will appear among the sponsored search engine results
when an Internet user inputs a specific keyword in a search engine's search bar. Generally, the
search engine will award the first sponsored result to the advertiser that has placed the highest
bid on the keyword, i.e. the advertiser that has agreed to pay to the search engine operator the
highest amount each time an independent internet user takes a particular action (such as
searching a term or clicking on a link in the advertisement). Google AdWords, Yahoo! Search
Marketing, and Microsoft (Bing) AdCenter are currently the most popular SEM programs in the
United States.
68.

LBF's Marks are often-searched terms on the Internet. As part of LBF Travel's

advertising strategy, LBF Travel submits to Google and some other search engines LBF's Marks
as Keywords, both alone and in combination with other words. Whenever an Internet user
searched on Google or another search engine for "travelation" or "smartfares", one of LBF
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Travel's Sponsored Links will appear either immediately above or to the immediate right hand
side of the Search Results. If the Internet user clicks on this link, the user will be brought to one
of LBF Travel's websites.
69.

Defendants also advertise their competing services on the Internet, through

Google AdWords program and other search engine advertising programs. Upon information and
belief, Defendants have submitted LBF's Marks as Keywords to Google and other search
engines, either alone, or in conjunction with other words, such that when an Internet user
searches on Google.com or other search engines for "SMARTFARES" or "TRA VELATION,"
Defendants' competing sponsored links appear prominently either to the immediate right or on
top of the Search Results page.
70.

Defendants systematically use LBF's Marks and close variations thereof in their

SEM campaigns for the CheapOair, CheapOstay, Onetravel, Farebuzz and InsanelyCheapFlights
Upon information and belief, Defendants purchase advertising using LBF's Marks as

brands.

Keywords for the specific purpose of intercepting consumers and customers of LBF Travel and
those who are specifically looking for TRAVELA TION and SMARTFARES and diverting them
to Defendants, LBF Travel's competitors.
71.

Upon information and belief, Defendants use LBF's Marks for several improper

purposes, including (1) diverting potential customers, who are actively looking for LBF Travel
or LBF's Marks, to Defendant's websites; (2) taking advantage of and trading upon and receiving
the benefits of the goodwill and good reputation associated with the LBF Travel's name and
LBF's Marks, which LBF Travel has developed at great expense; (3) giving Defendants' goods
and services appeal, credibility and marketability by association with the LBF Travel's name and
LBF's Marks; (4) Falsely indicating to potential customers that Defendants are sponsored,
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endorsed, affiliated with or approved by LBF Travel; (4) falsely implying that Defendants'
services are as good as, or a credible substitute for, those goods and services offered by LBF
Travel; (5) hijacking LBF's Marks by diverting the good-will associated with LBF's Marks to
Defendants' own benefit, without authorization or compensation to LBF Travel; (6) forcing LBF
Travel to make higher bids for its own LBF's Marks as Keywords so that LBF Travel's
sponsored links appear on searches for "TRA VELATION" and "SMARTFARES", all to
Defendants' profit.
72.

Defendants' use of the LBF's Marks via search engine advertising programs

causes confusion in the marketplace that Defendants' goods and services are affiliated with or
otherwise approved or "sponsored" by LBF Travel; causes LBF's Marks to be diluted by losing
their distinctive quality of being associated solely with LBF Travel; allows Defendants to
financially benefit from and to trade off of the goodwill and reputation of LBF Travel without
incurring an expense similar to that incurred by Plaintiff in building up its brand name; and
causes LBF Travel to lose, in part, control over the commercial use of its own name and LBF's
Marks by placing such control in the hands of Defendants.
73.

When an Internet user searching on a search engine for LBF's Marks is

presented with a search results page which contains multiple sponsored links, one of which may
be for LBF Travel's websites, and others for Defendants' competing websites. Internet users may
click on one of the sponsored links for Defendants' websites, believing that it is related to, or
sponsored by LBF Travel. Even if the Internet user realizes that the website they have been
taken to is not LBF Travel's website, a percentage of such Internet users may either stay at the
Defendant's websites, or may otherwise discontinue their search for LBF's Marks. An Internet
user may associate the quality of goods and services offered on Defendant's website with those
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offered by LBF Travel, and if dissatisfied with such goods or services, may discontinue their
search for such services entirely.

B. Acts of Federal and Common Law Trademark Infringement

1. Trademark Infringement in Search Engine Marketing by Plaintiffs
(CheapOair.com, CheapOstay.com, Onetravel.com and
Insanelycheapflights.com)
74.

Defendants' purchase of or bidding on LBF's Marks as part of their SEM

campaigns constitutes unauthorized use of LBF's Marks in commerce, that is clearly intended to
cause consumer confusion about the source of Defendants' services and/or the relationship or
affiliation between these Defendants and Plaintiff, and which serves to benefit Defendants
financially.
75.

These unauthorized uses of LBF's Marks are prohibited by federal trademark and

unfair competition law, New York State trademark and unfair competition law, and common law.
76.

As of the date of this First Amended Complaint, Defendants continue to use

LBF's Marks and close variations thereof in their respective online advertisements, as detailed
below.
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Beginning m at least June 2013, LBF Travel included the SMARTFARES,

Plaintiffs mark protected by common law, within its keyword advertisements, as illustrated by
the following advertisement:
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Similarly, a Google search for the website "travelation.com," featuring in its

name Plaintiffs federally-registered mark TRAVELATION, caused the following SERP to be
displayed:
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79.

In fact, Defendants' infringement on other companies' trademarks is pervasive, as

Defendants are not only targeting LBF's Marks and brands in their search engine bidding
activity. In fact, they are engaged in an intentional, willful, widespread and systematic campaign
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of bidding on trademarks and brands of other online travel companies, including but not limited
to www.priceline.com, www.hotwire.com, www.cheapflights.com and www.travelocity.com, as
part of Defendants' SEM strategy.
80.

For example, a Google search for "priceline.com," a federally-registered

trademark of priceline.com Incorporated, U.S. Trademark Registration Nos. 4364773, 4111968,
4111958, 2481112, caused the following sponsored search results to be displayed:
,
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A Google search for "hotwire.com," federally-registered trademark of Hotwire,

Inc., U.S. Trademark Registration Nos. 3428658 and 3387685, caused the following sponsored
search results to be displayed:
-
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Defendants' Keyword advertisements and uses of LBF's Marks and close

variations thereof detailed above are not advertisements for Plaintiffs services and were made
without Plaintiffs permission. These actions threaten to impair the distinctiveness of LBF's
Marks and to tarnish them by association with Defendants' services, thereby diluting LBF's
Marks.

2. Elements Heightening the Likelihood of Confusion: Confusingly Similar
"Look and Feel" of Defendants' Websites
83.

Not only have Defendants violated federal and New York trademark and unfair

competition law by using LBF's Marks in their advertisements, they have also intentionally
heightened the likelihood of confusion among consumers as to the affiliation, sponsorship, or
24
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source of the services provided by imitating the graphic user interface of Plaintiffs websites, in
order to mimic the "look and feel" of Plaintiffs websites. This intentional imitation furthers the
wrongful impression initially created by Defendants' trademark infringement that Defendants'
services are affiliated with, sponsored by, authorized by, or provided by Plaintiff.
84.

Plaintiff has established distinctive, nonfunctional design elements for their

websites, which consumers have come to associate with Plaintiffs services. The layout of
Plaintiffs websites appears not as a static presentation, but rather as a series of overlapping
layers aimed at accomplishing specific tasks. The graphic design of the pages of LBF Travel's
websites, the "look", is tied to the "interface design," comprised of dynamic navigation elements,
such as hyperlinks, boxes, buttons, menus. These interactive elements contribute to the "feel" of
the website, its overall mood, style and impression. A consistent "look and feel" allows Internet
users to develop an intuitive model for using LBF Travel's websites.
85.

For web-based travel companies, the "look and feel" of the website serves a

similar purpose as the nonfunctional design and layout of the packaging of a physical retail
product. The "look and feel" of a website is essential to LBF Travel's standing in the market, it
promotes the firm's reputation and recognition of LBF's Marks and brands. When an Internet
user visits LBF Travel's website, he or she is comforted by the distinctive design, knowing that
the look and feel is clearly associated with LBF Travel and LBF's Marks. This branding
facilitates the association with LBF Travel's reputation.
86.

LBF Travel has independently and in good faith developed the graphic and

interactive layouts that now comprise the "look and feel" of its websites, using the dynamic
navigation elements seen on many websites in the industry and its own visual design choices.
Since the creation of LBF Travel's websites, these websites have acquired distinctiveness and
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Internet users have come to associate the overall "look and feel" of LBF Travel's websites with
LBF Travel and LBF's Marks, as distinguished from other travel websites.
87.

Defendants have mimicked the "look and feel" of Plaintiffs websites for

Defendants' competing web-based travel websites in bad faith, with full knowledge of the
existence and success of Plaintiffs websites, in order to heighten consumer confusion as to the
source of the on line travel services, by copying the graphic presentation and the functions of the
interactive layers of Plaintiffs websites.
88.

www.similarsitesearch.com shows that each of Defendants' websites is similar to

Plaintiffs websites.
89.

Upon information and belief, LBF Travel began using the arrangement of the

graphic and interactive components that now comprise their websites "look and feel" before
Defendants started using similar components to mimic the "look and feel" of LBF Travel's
websites.
90.

For example, LBF Travel invested significant time and resources in developing

the distinctive "look and feel" for its Smartfares.com website. Thus, the homepage for Plaintiffs
Smartfares.com website features the search engine in the upper left hand corner; with tabs for
flights, cars, hotels, vacations, and cruises immediately above the search engine; promotional
deals just to the right of the search engine; three columns listing cheap flights below the search
engine; "Promo Codes" juxtaposed beside the cheap flights columns; and customer service
number in large, orange letter at the top of the homepage. During viewing of Smartfares.com,
the browser page displays a title "Cheap Flights, Cheap Airline Tickets, Cheap Flights Airfare,
Flights Airfare Deals - Smartfares." Taken together, these elements comprise a user interface
that facilitates intuitive use of the website that allows an Internet user to quickly and effectively
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search for promotions, browse deals to specific travel destinations, and otherwise navigate the
website with ease. Attached hereto as Exhibit K is a screenshot of Smartfares.com's homepage
as of December 10, 2013.
91.

Without permission from or compensation to Plaintiff, Defendants blatantly

imitated the distinctive graphic and interactive elements of Smartfares.com design to copy the
essence of the website, and to mimic the "look and feel" of the website using substantially
similar layout and interactive elements. The homepage for Onetravel.com also features the
search engine in the upper left hand corner; with tabs for flights, cars, hotels, and vacations
immediately above the search engine; promotional deals just to the right of the search engine;
three columns listing cheap flights below the search engine; "Promo Codes" juxtaposed beside
the cheap flights columns; and customer service number in large, orange letter at the top of the
homepage. During viewing of Smartfares.com, the browser page displays a title "Cheap Tickets,
Cheap Flights & Discount Airfare - OneTravel." Attached hereto as Exhibit Lis a screenshot of
Onetravel.com's homepage as of December 10, 2013.
92.

To use another example, Defendants have also mimicked the look and feel of the

distinctive "search screen" of LBF Travel's Travelation.com website. A search screen is the
screen that appears after a user has selected his or her travel dates and locations for the website
to search, while the website performs the search function. Travelation.com's search screen
features a bar with moving stripes, the TRAVELATION mark in the upper part of the screen, and
a message indicating that the website is searching for the best fares for the user's selected
criteria. Attached hereto as Exhibit M is a screenshot of Travelation.com's search screen as of
December 10, 2013.
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Onetravel.com has adopted a search screen that has substantially similar look and

feel to the one developed and used by Travelation.com. Attached hereto as Exhibit N is a
screenshot of Onetravel.com's search screen as of December 10, 2013.
94.

Plaintiff received several complaints from Internet users, who have been confused

and mislead by Defendants' advertising practices and design of Defendants' websites into
believing that they were visiting Plaintiffs websites.
95.

Plaintiff suffered real damage to its business standing and reputation of LBF's

Marks by being associated with Defendants' businesses due to Defendants' activity described
above, in light of the extremely negative reviews that Defendants' websites received. For
example, the following reviews were posted on the website www.sitejabber.com in February and
March 2014:
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96.

The website http://www.scambook.com/company/view/l 830/CheapoAir states

that the page www.cheapoair.com has accumulated 43 customer complaints.
97.

Better Business Bureau reported on their website http ://www.bbb.org/new-york-

city/business-reviews/travel-agencies-and-bureaus/fareportal-inc-in-new-york-ny-89212/

as

follows:
Consumers have issued a range of complaints with the BBB against CheapOAir.com.
Consumers report that upon finding the tickets they want to purchase and entering their
billing information, they are informed that the flight is not available. According to
complaints, CheapOAir.com then recommends more expensive flights. Consumers also
allege difficulty in obtaining refunds. Some consumers who purchase flights on
CheapOAir.com report that either all or a portion of their flights have not been confirmed
with the airline resulting in flight cancellations. These consumers then have to pay a
second time for their plane reservations.
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Violations of Consumer Protection Statutes
98.

As described above, Defendants have engaged in numerous acts that violate

federal and New York trademark and unfair competition laws, including purchasing LBF's
Marks as advertising keywords, and conscious imitation of nonfunctional design elements of
Plaintiffs websites, all of which have unjustly enriched Defendants at significant damage to
Plaintiff as well as the consumer public in New York.
99.

Defendants have not only profited from their wrongful acts, they have injured the

New York consumer public both by intentionally creating confusion as to the source of their
services and the existence of an affiliation with Plaintiffs and by advertising nonexistent deals
and misleading prices.
100.

By using LBF's Marks in Defendants' search engme marketing and by

intentionally taking on the look and feel of Plaintiffs websites, Defendants have or could have
caused New York consumers to believe that they were purchasing services through Plaintiff or a
company associated with Plaintiff.
10 I.

Plaintiff has an excellent reputation in the web-based travel industry and, as such,

consumers choose to use Plaintiffs services, knowing they will receive exceptional service that
Plaintiffs customers have come to expect.
102.

By causing consumers to believe they were purchasing Plaintiffs services and/or

creating a situation in which consumers could reasonably believe they were purchasing
Plaintiffs services, Defendants deceived the New York consumer public and caused or could
have caused New York consumers to purchase Defendants' services under false pretenses.
103.

Defendants further deceived consumer public by making certain comparative

savings claims for airfares posted to their websites that were misleading and grossly exaggerated
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and/or did not actually offer saving to the consumers; announced limited-time price reductions
when the rates were available on the ongoing basis, and made other unsupported claims.
I 04.

For example, Defendants made statements like "Save up to 65% at CheapOair'',

"40% to 65% discount on airfare," without disclosing the benchmark prices and their source to
consumers.
I 05.

Upon information and belief, during a recent review by National Advertising

Division ("NAD"), Defendants disclosed that the advertisements of discounts were based on a
comparison to "Y" class unrestricted international fares. NAD noted in its decision that Y class
fares are among the most expensive fares available, and comprise only nine percent of all tickets
sold in the U.S.
I 06.

Upon information and belief, NAD recently recommended that Defendants

modify the "up to" savings claims in Google advertisements to avoid conveying the unsupported
message that the basis of comparison is to competitors' discounted fares and clearly disclose that
the basis of the savings claim is a comparison to the applicable classes of domestic and
international unrestricted fully refundable published fares.
107.

Defendants also made statements such as "CheapOair saves you time and

guarantees the best rate," implying that they offered the best and lowest rates, leaving no reason
for consumers to comparison shop for better rates. Upon information and belief, NAO recently
recommended that Defendants more clearly disclose in immediate proximity to its "best price
guarantee" the material limitation that consumers have four hours in which to find a lower fare.
I 08.

Upon information and belief, NAD has made other recommendations to

Defendants with respect to their advertising practices that cause and/or may cause consumer
confusion.
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Upon information and belief, Defendants did not follow NAD's recommendations

in whole or in part, and to this day continue to advertise misleading savings and discounts that
do not offer actual savings to consumers and are therefore materially misleading. This false
advertising caused or could have caused injury to New York consumers.

COUNT I
VIOLATION OF THE LANHAM ACT, 15 U.S.C. §1114
110.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained m

paragraph 1-94 of this Complaint, as though fully stated herein.
111.

Defendants have violated Section 1114 by purchasing LBF's Marks as advertising

keywords as means of advertising and selling Defendants' goods and services.
112.

Defendants' use of LBF's Marks constitutes a use in commerce in connection

with sale, offering for sale, distribution and advertising of Defendants' goods and services, that
are substantially similar to the goods and services offered by Plaintiff.
113.

Defendants have taken these actions in order to create initial interest confusion by

making it appear that the keyword advertisement and links will direct the consumer to a website
owned or operated by or affiliated with Plaintiff, as well as to create confusion in the public
mind as to the source of Defendants' services and the affiliation of Defendants' services with
Plaintiffs services.
114.

Defendants' purchase of LBF's Marks as advertising keywords as described

extensively in the Complaint cause and/or are likely to cause confusion, mistake, or deception as
to the source, sponsorship, or approval of Defendants' travel services and falsely and deceptively
represents Defendants' travel services as being affiliated with, sponsored by, authorized by, or
provided by Plaintiff, in violation of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1).
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Upon information and belief, Defendants' use of plaintiff's marks causes at least

some consumers actively seeking to find and do business with LBF Travel to clink on one or
more sponsored links linking to the webpages of LBF Travel's competitors, either by mistake, or
through confusion or because they are deceived into believing such sponsored links are related
to LBF Travel.
116.

Upon information and belief, Defendants' use of LB F's Marks causes at least

some initial confusion among Internet users who see Defendants' sponsored links in response to
a search the Internet user conducted looking for LBF Travel.
117.

Upon information and belief, there is an expectation among Internet users who

conduct searches on Internet search engines that the results listed, including the sponsored links,
will be related to the search term, especially with regard to sponsored links that appear
immediately above the search results, and are designed to look similar to such search results.
118.

Upon information and belief, some Internet users who search for LBF's Marks on

search engines by inputting the words "TRAVELATION" or "SMARTFARES'', thereafter click
on Defendants' sponsored links by mistake, or out of confusion or because they are deceived into
believing it is related to the search terms "TRAVELATION" or "SMARTFARES", and thereafter
do not continue their search for LBF's Marks either because they do business with Defendants,
or out of discouragement, or because they are diverted and distracted from doing so.
119.

Upon information and belief, after being diverted from their search for LBF's

Marks, some Internet users lose the initial "momentum" generated by the goodwill associated
with LBF's Marks, or are otherwise presented with purchasing barriers associated with making a
choice between competing providers of services, which causes LBF Travel to lose one of the
kew benefits of LB F's Marks.
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Defendants committed their wrongful actions with the intent to mislead and

misdirect consumers. Defendants' wrongful conduct has deprived, and will continue to deprive,
Plaintiff of opportunities for controlling and expanding its goodwill.
121.

This is an exceptional case and Plaintiff is entitled to recover reasonable

attorneys' fees pursuant to 15 U .S.C. § 1117.
122.

Plaintiff is being damaged and will continue to be damaged by this conduct and is

without an adequate remedy at law to compensate it for Defendants' wrongful acts and therefore
is entitled injunctive relief.

COUNT II
VIOLATION OF THE LANHAM ACT, 15 U.S.C. §1125(a)
123.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporate by reference the allegations contained m

paragraphs 1-101 of this Complaint, as though fully stated herein.
124.

Section l 125(a)(J )(A) of the Lanham Act provides in pertinent part:

( 1) Any person who, on or in connection with any goods or services, or
any container for goods, uses in commerce any word., term, name,
symbol, or device, or any combination thereof, or any false designation
of origin, false or misleading description of fact, or false or misleading
representation of fact, which(A) is likely to cause confusion, or to cause mistake, or to deceive as to
the affiliation., connection or association of such person with another
person, or as to the origin, sponsorship, or approval of his or her goods,
services or commercial activities by another person ....
125.

Defendants' purchase of LBF's Marks as advertising keyword as described

extensively in this Complaint falsely suggests that they are associated with Plaintiff, in violation
of §43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §1125(a).
126.

Defendants' unauthorized uses of LBF's Marks and close variations thereof

constitutes a false designation of origin and a false or misleading description and representation
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of fact that is likely to cause initial interest confusion, actual confusion and mistake, and to
deceive the public as to the affiliation, connection or association of Defendants with Plaintiff and
as to the origin, sponsorship, or approval of Defendants' products and services by Plaintiff, all in
violation of the Lanham Act, 15U.S.C.§l125(a).
127.

Defendants' unauthorized uses of LB F's Marks threaten to

impair the

distinctiveness of LBF's Marks, thereby diluting them, and to tarnish them by association with
Defendant's services.
128.

This is an exceptional case and Plaintiffs are entitled to recover reasonable

attorneys' fees pursuant to 15 U .S.C. § 1117.
129.

Defendants' wrongful acts are causing damage to Plaintiff and Plaintiff is without

an adequate remedy at law to compensate it for Defendants' wrongful activity and therefore is
entitled to injunctive relief.

COUNT III
STATE UNFAIR COMPETITION
130.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained in

paragraphs 1 - 108 of this Complaint, as though such allegations were set forth at length.
131.

Defendants have violated New York law on unfair competition by attempting, in

bad faith, to palm off their goods as Plaintiffs.
132.

Defendants acted in bad faith because they knowingly and willfully engaged, and

continue to engage, in the same conduct that they claim LBF Travel is guilty of, as alleged in
their Complaint in the matter captioned Fareportal, Inc. and WK Travel, Inc. v. LBF Travel, Inc.

and Globester LLC (S.D.N. Y., Docket No. I 3-CV-2412).
133.

Defendants have purchased LBF's Marks as advertising Keywords and willfully

and without authorization used LBF's Marks and close variations thereof in online advertising
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directed to the market generally and intentionally mimicked the distinctive "look and feel" of
Plaintiffs websites in order to make their own competing services appear connected with
Plaintiffs services and thereby misappropriate Plaintiffs good and will and customers.
134.

Defendants' services compete with Plaintiffs services for market share.

Defendants' conscious imitation and subjective intent to imitate and create a likelihood of
consumer confusion is evidenced by the cumulative lack of differentiation between the
distinctive, nonfunctional design elements of their competing websites.
135.

Even if Defendants did not intentionally imitate Plaintiffs websites, Defendants

have at least violated their duty, under New York law, to design their websites in a manner that
will avoid a likelihood of consumers confusing Defendants' websites and services with those of
Plaintiffs.
136.

Defendants' actions are deceptive and unfair and have caused, and are likely to

cause in the future, a public injury and a detrimental effect on consumers as to the origin of
Defendants' products and services; are likely to cause confusion, mistake or deception as to the
source, sponsorship, or approval of Defendants' travel services; and constitute "palming off' in
violation of the New York common law on unfair competition.
137.

Defendants' wrongful acts are causing damage to Plaintiffs good will, reputation,

and business and Plaintiff is without an adequate remedy at law to compensate it for Defendants'
wrongful activity and therefore is entitled to injunctive relief.

COUNT IV
STATE TRADEMARK AND TRADE NAME INFRINGEMENT VIOLATION OF NEW YORK GENERAL BUSINESS LAW§ 360-1
138.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained m

paragraphs 1-115 of this Complaint, as though such allegations were set forth at length.
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NY GBL § 360-1 states:

Likelihood of injury to business reputation or of dilution of
distinctive quality of a mark or trade name shall be a ground
injunctive relief in cases of infringement of a mark registered or
registered or in cases of unfair competition, notwithstanding
absence of competition between the parties or the absence
confusion as to the source of goods or services.
140.

the
for
not
the
of

Plaintiff is entitled to protection under NY GBL § 360-1 because it possesses

strong marks and trade names, including SMARTFARES and TRAVELATION, which each have
a distinctive quality and/or have acquired secondary meaning such that they have become
associated in the public's mind with LBF Travel's services as distinguished from the services of
competitors.
141.

Defendants have violated NY GBL § 360-1 by their unauthorized, willfol use of

LBF's Marks, trade names, and key parts thereof by purchasing LBF's Marks as advertising
keywords, all of which creates a likelihood of dilution by: (i) blurring in that the strength of their
association with Plaintiff is diminished by Defendants' unauthorized use thereof; and/or (ii)
tarnishment by association with Defendants' services.
142.

The unauthorized uses of LBF's Marks by Defendants provide Defendants with

an unfair commercial and financial benefit and deprive Plaintiff of the full value of the good will
and reputation it has invested millions of dollars in developing.
143.

Defendants' wrongful acts are causing damage to Plaintiff and Plaintiff is without

an adequate remedy at law to compensate it for Defendants' wrongful activity and therefore is
entitled to injunctive relief.
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COUNTV
STATE TRADE NAME INFRINGEMENT VIOLATION OF NEW YORK GENERAL BUSINESS LAW§ 133
144.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained m

paragraphs 1-121 of this Complaint, as though such allegations were set forth at length.
145.

NY GBL § 133 prohibits any person or entity "with intent to deceive or mislead

the public" from using all or part of any "corporate, assumed or trade name" for advertising
purposes in such a manner as may "deceive or mislead the public" as to the identity of the person
or entity or its connection with the person or firm that rightfully owns or uses the "corporate,
assumed or trade name."
146.

Plaintiff is entitled to protection under NY GBL § 133 because it possesses strong

marks and trade names, including SMARTFARES and TRAVELATION which each have a
distinctive quality and/or have acquired secondary meaning such that they have become
associated in the public's mind with LBF Travel's services as distinguished from the services of
competitors.
147.

Defendants have violated NY GBL § 133 by intentionally purchasing LBF's

Marks as advertising keywords. Defendants have taken these actions in order to create confusion
and to deceive the public as to the affiliation, connection, or association of Defendants with
Plaintiff and as to the origin, sponsorship, or approval of Defendants' products and services by
Plaintiff, all in violation of§ 133 of the NY GBL.
148.

These unauthorized uses of Plaintiffs trade names by Defendants provide

Defendants with an unfair commercial and financial benefit and deprive Plaintiff of the full
value of the good will and reputation it has invested millions of dollars in developing.
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Defendants' wrongful acts are causing damage to Plaintiff and Plaintiff is without

an adequate remedy at law to compensate it for Defendants' wrongful activity and therefore is
entitled to injunctive relief.

COUNT VI
DECEPTIVE ACTS AND PRACTICES VIOLATION OF NEW YORK GENERAL BUSINESS LAW§ 349
150.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained m

paragraphs 1-127 of this Complaint, as though such allegations were set forth at length.
151.

NY GBL § 349 states in pertinent part:

(a)
Deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any business, trade or
commerce or in the furnishing of any service in this state are hereby declared
unlawful.
(h)
In addition to the right of action granted to the attorney general pursuant to
this section, any person who has been injured by reason of any violation of this
section may bring an action in his own name to enjoin such unlawful act or
practice, an action to recover his actual damages or fifty dollars, whichever is
greater, or both such actions. The court may, in its discretion, increase the award
of damages to an amount not to exceed three times the actual damages up to one
thousand dollars, if the court finds the defendant willfully or knowingly violated
this section. The court may award reasonable attorney's fees to a prevailing
plaintiff.
152.

Defendants have violated NY GBL § 349 by willfully using LBF's Marks, trade

names, and close variations thereof without Plaintiffs consent and advertising misleading sales,
promotions and deals to the New York consumer public. These actions have caused injury to
Plaintiff as well as to the New York consumer public.
153.

Defendants' unauthorized, willful use of LBF's Marks, trade names and close

variations thereof, are likely to cause confusion, mistake, or deception as to the source,
sponsorship, or approval of Defendants' travel services, and falsely and deceptively represent
Defendants' travel services as being affiliated with, sponsored by, authorized by, or provided by,
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Plaintiff, and constitute deceptive acts and practices under § 349 of the New York General
Business Law. These actions provide an unfair commercial and financial benefit to Defendants,
have caused or threaten to cause injury to Plaintiff's good will and reputation, and unfairly divert
customers and revenue from Plaintiff. Defendants' violations of§ 349 of the New York General
Business Law directly and. proximately caused injuries to Plaintiff in an amount to he
determined at trial.
154.

Defendants' wrongful acts are causing damage to Plaintiff and Plaintiff is without

an adequate remedy at law to compensate it for Defendants' wrongful activity and therefore is
entitled to injunctive relief.

Further, as authorized by § 349(h) of the New York General

Business Law, Plaintiff is entitled to recover reasonable attorneys' fees and costs.

COUNT VII
FALSE ADVERTISINGVIOLATION OF NEW YORK GENERAL BUSINESS LAW§ 350
155.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained m

paragraphs 1-132 of this Complaint, as though such allegations were set forth at length.
156.

NY GBL·§ 350 states: "False advertising in the conduct of any business, trade or

commerce or in the furnishing of any service in this state is hereby declared unlawful."
157.

Defendants have violated NY GBL § 350 by willfully using LB F's Marks, trade

names, and key parts thereof without Plaintiff's consent, and advertising misleading sales,
promotions and deals to the New York consumer public.

These actions have caused injury to

Plaintiff as well as to the New York consumer public.
158.

Defendants' unauthorized, wilful use of LBF's Marks, trade names and close

variations thereof is likely to cause confusion, mistake, or deception as to the source,
sponsorship, or approval of Defendants' travel services and falsely and deceptively represent
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Defendants' travel services as being affiliated with, sponsored by, authorized by, or provided by,
Plaintiff, and constitute false advertising under§ 350 of the New York General Business Law.
159.

Defendants' aforesaid acts provide an unfair commercial and financial benefit to

Defendants, have caused or threaten to cause injury to Plaintiff's good will and reputation, and
unfairly divert customers and revenue from Plaintiff.
160.

Defendants' wrongful acts are causing damage to Plaintiff and Plaintiff is without

an adequate remedy at law to compensate it for Defendants' wrongful activity and therefore is
entitled to injunctive relief.

COUNT VIII
STATE UNFAIR BUSINESS PRACTICE
161.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained m

paragraphs 1-138 of this Complaint, as though such allegations were set forth at length.
162.

Defendants have engaged in unfair business practice in violation of New York

State common law by making unauthorized use of LBF's Marks, trade names, and close
variations thereof, and their trade dress.
163.

Defendants' unauthorized, willful use of LBF's Marks, trade names, and close

variations thereof, and their intentional, imitation of the distinctive look and feel of Plaintiffs
websites, are likely to cause confusion, mistake, or deception as to the source, sponsorship, or
approval of Defendants' travel services and falsely and deceptively represent Defendants' travel
services as being affiliated with, sponsored by, authorized by, or provided by, Plaintiff, and
create consumer confusion and cause customers that would otherwise purchase services from
Plaintiff to obtain them through Defendants instead.
164.

Defendants' aforesaid acts provide an unfair commercial and financial benefit to

Defendants, threaten the good will and reputation of Plaintiff, and deprive Plaintiff of the full
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value of the commercial and proprietary information that it has invested millions of dollars
developing.
165.

Defendants' wrongful acts are causing damage to Plaintiff and Plaintiff is without

an adequate remedy at law to compensate it for Defendants' wrongful activity and therefore is
entitled to injunctive relief.

COUNT IX
UNJUST ENRICHMENT
I 66.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained m

paragraphs 1-143 of this Complaint, as though such allegations were set forth at length.
167.

At all times relevant hereto, Defendants acted willfully and in bad faith, with full

knowledge and understanding that they are engaging in the same conduct that they accused LBF
Travel of in the matter captioned Fareportal, Inc. and WK Travel, Inc. v. LBF Travel, Inc. and

Globester LLC (S.D.N.Y., Docket No. 13-CV-2412).
168.

Defendants' wrongful actions, as described above, provide an unfair commercial

and financial benefit to Defendants without compensation to Plaintiff, who spent millions of
dollars developing LBF's Marks and their proprietary and confidential commercial information
and trade secrets, threaten the good will and. reputation of Plaintiff, and deprive Plaintiff of the
full value of the commercial and proprietary information that they have invested millions of
dollars in developing.
169.

Upon information and belief, given that Plaintiff and Defendants are direct

competitors in the market of discount online travel services, Defendants' infringements caused
sales to be diverted to Defendants when such sales would otherwise have gone to LBF Travel.

42
4843072.1

Case 1:13-cv-09143-LAK-GWG Document 13

170.

Filed 03/07/14 Page 43 of 92

Defendants' wrongful acts are causing damage to Plaintiff and Plaintiff is without

an adequate remedy at law to compensate it for Defendants' wrongful activity and therefore is
entitled to injunctive relief.

COUNTX
CLAIM FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT OF INVALIDITY AND
CANCELLATION UNDER 15 U.S.C. §1064 OF DEFENDANTS' TRADEMARK
REGISTRATION 3,576,166
171.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in

paragraphs 1-146 of this Complaint, as though such allegations were set forth at length.
172.

Defendants' initiation of the 2412 Matter created a case of actual controversy

within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. §2201 et seq. thus warranting the declaratory relief sought by
Plaintiff in this matter.
173.

Plaintiff seeks a declaratory judgment and a determination that U.S. Trademark

Registration 3,576, 166 for the mark CHEAPOAIR should be cancelled because it is invalid
and/or unenforceable.
174.

Upon information and belief, and as set forth herein above, U.S. Trademark

Registration 3,576, 166 for the mark CHEAPOAIR is invalid, unenforceable and cancellable
because its corresponding mark CHEAPOAIR is descriptive, if not generic, for the services in
connection with which it is being used and because it was improperly issued in view of the 2004
U.S. Trademark Registration No.2,890,981 for the mark CHEAPAIR.
175.

Plaintiff has standing to seek cancellation of this trademark as it has a commercial

interest in LBF's Marks, and has an interest in using the generic industry terms that form part of
this mark descriptively in their business.
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The continuation of Registration 3,576, 166 on the Principal Register has caused

and will cause significant damage to Plaintiff, who is Defendants' direct competitor, unless
cancelled by this Court.

COUNT XI
CLAIM FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT OF INVALIDITY AND
CANCELLATION UNDER 15 U.S.C. §1064 OF DEFENDANTS' TRADEMARK
REGISTRATION 3,672,700
177.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in

paragraphs 1-151 of this Complaint, as though such allegations were set forth at length.
178.

Defendants' initiation of the 2412 Matter created a case of actual controversy

within the meaning of 28 U.S.C.

~2201

et seq. thus warranting the declaratory relief sought by

Plaintiff in this matter.
179.

Plaintiff seeks a declaratory judgment and a determination that U.S. Trademark

Registration 3,672,700 for the mark CHEAPOSTAY should be cancelled because it is invalid
and/or unenforceable.
180.

Upon information and belief, and as set forth herein above, U.S. Trademark

Registration 3,672, 700 for the mark CHEAPOSTAY is invalid, unenforceable and cancellable
because its corresponding mark CHEAPOSTAY is descriptive, if not generic, for the services in
connection with which it is being used.
181.

Plaintiff has standing to seek cancellation of this trademark as it has a commercial

interest in LBF's Marks, and has an interest in using the generic industry terms that form part of
this mark descriptively in their business.
182.

The continuation of Registration 3,672,700 on the Principal Register has caused

and will cause significant damage to Plaintiff, who is Defendants' direct competitor, unless
cancelled by this Court.
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COUNT XII
CLAIM FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT OF INVALIDITY AND
CANCELLATION UNDER 15 U.S.C. §1064 OF DEFENDANTS' TRADEMARK
REGISTRATION 3.580.258
183.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporate by reference the allegations contained m

paragraphs 1-156 of this Complaint, as though such allegations were set forth at length.
184.

Defendants' initiation of the 2412 Matter created a case of actual controversy

within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. §2201 et seq. thus warranting the declaratory relief sought by
Plaintiff in this matter.
185.

Plaintiff seeks a declaratory judgment and a determination that U.S. Trademark

Registration 3,580,258 for the mark CHEAPOAIR.COM THE ONLY WAY TO GO!! should be
cancelled because it is invalid and/or unenforceable.
186.

Upon information and belief, and as set forth herein above, U.S. Trademark

Registration 3,580,258 for the mark CHEAPOAIR.COM THE ONLY WAY TO GO!! is invalid,
unenforceable and cancellable because its corresponding mark CHEAPOAIR.COM THE ONLY
WAY TO GO!! is descriptive, if not generic, for the services in connection with which it is being
used and because it was improperly issued in view of the 2004 U.S. Trademark Registration No.
2,890,981 for the mark CHEAPAIR.COM and the 2003 first use of CHEAPAIR.COM by
American Travel Solutions.
187.

Plaintiff has standing to seek cancellation of this trademark as it has a commercial

interest in LBF's Marks, and has an interest in using the generic industry terms that form part of
this mark descriptively in their business.
188.

The continuation of Registration 3,580,258 on the Principal Register has caused

and will cause significant damage to Plaintiff, who is Defendants' direct competitor, unless
cancelled by this Court.
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COUNT XIII
CLAIM FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT OF INVALIDITY AND
CANCELLATION UNDER 15 U.S.C. §1064 OF DEFENDANTS' TRADEMARK
REGISTRATION 3,553,213
189.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporate by reference the allegations contained m

paragraphs 1-161 of this Complaint, as though such allegations were set forth at length.

190.

Defendants' initiation of the 2412 Matter created a case of actual controversy

within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. §2201 et seq. thus warranting the declaratory relief sought by
Plaintiff in this matter.

191.

Plaintiff seeks a declaratory judgment and a determination that U.S. Trademark

Registration 3,553,213 for the mark CHEAPOAIR.COM THE ONLY WAY TO GO!! (stylized
mark) should be cancelled because it is invalid and/or unenforceable.

192.

Upon information and belief, and as set forth herein above, U.S. Trademark

Registration 3,553,213 for the mark CHEAPOAIR.COM THE ONLY WAY TO GO!! (stylized
mark) is invalid, unenforceable and cancellable because it is descriptive, if not generic, for the
services in connection with which it is being used and because it was improperly issued in view
of the 2004 U.S. Trademark Registration No. 2,890,981 for the mark CHEAPAIR.COM and the

2003 first use of CHEA PA JR.COM by American Travel Solutions.
193.

Plaintiff has standing to seek cancellation of this trademark as it has a commercial

interest in LBF's Marks, and has an interest in using the generic industry terms that form part of
this mark descriptively in their business.

I 94.

The continuation of Registration 3,553,213 on the Principal Register has caused

and will cause significant damage to Plaintiff, who is Defendants' direct competitor, unless
cancelled by this Cow1.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
A

That this Court. grant preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, pursuant to 15
U.S.C. § I I I 6, against Defendants and their respective officers, partners, agents,
servants, employees, sales representatives, distributors, partners, subsidiaries,
related companies, heirs, predecessors, successors, assigns, attorneys, and all
others in active concert or participation with any of them enjoining them from:
t.

Using, whether directly or indirectly, SMARTFARES, TRAVELATION, or

any other mark or word similar to any of LBF' Marks, including any key part
thereof, in a manner that is likely to cause confusion or mistake, or to deceive, in
connection with online travel services, including, without limitation, in any
advertising or SEM campaign;
ii.

Engaging in any other act or thing likely to confuse, mislead, or deceive

others into believing that Defendants, or any of their respective products or
services emanate from Plaintiff, or are connected with, affiliated with, sponsored
by, or approved by Plaintiff or any of its family of brands;
111.

Aiding or assisting any person in engaging in any of the acts prohibited by

subsections (i) through (ii) above;
B

For an order directing each Defendant to file with this Court and serve on Plaintiff
within three (3) days after service of an injunction a written report under oath
setting forth in detail the manner and form in which each Defendant has complied
with the injunction pursuant to I 5 U.S.C. § 1II6;

C

For an order requiring Defendants and all those in privity with them to surrender
for destruction all materials incorporating or reproducing any of LBF's Marks or
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any key part thereof in accordance with 15 U.S.C. 1118, and the equitable power
of this Court to enforce the common law of New York;
D

For an accounting of the gains and profits realized by each of Defendants from
their respective wrongful acts of infringement, unfair competition, and/or
deceptive acts and false advertising;

E

For an order requiring Defendants to pay Plaintiff:

i.

statutory damages;

11.

punitive damages;

111.

treble damages;

iv.

actual damages;

v.

all profits wrongfully derived by Defendants from the use of LB F's marks

or any close variations thereof;
v1.

Plaintiffs costs and expenses, including without limitation reasonable

attorneys' fees; and
v11.
F

prejudgment interest at the maximum legal rate;

That this case be deemed "exceptional" within the meaning of the Lanham Act, 15

u.s.c. § 1117;
G

That Defendants' U.S. Trademark Registrations, i.e., U.S. Trademark Registration
No. 3,576, 166 for the mark CHEAPOAIR;

U.S. Trademark Registration No.

3,672,700 for the mark CHEAPOSTAY; U.S. Trademark Registration No.
3,580,258 for the mark CHEAPOAIR.COM THE ONLY WAY TO GO!!; and
U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3,553,213 for the mark CHEAPOAIR.COM
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THE ONLY WAY TO GO!! (stylized mark) do not merit protection and are
therefore invalid and unenforceable;
H

That Defendants' U.S. Trademark Registrations, i.e., U.S. Trademark Registration
No. 3,576, 166 for the mark CHEAPOAIR;

U.S. Trademark Registration No.

3,672,700 for the mark CHEAPOSTAY; U.S. Trademark Registration No.
3,580,258 for the mark CHEAPOAIR.COM THE ONLY WAY TO GO!!; and
U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3,553,213 for the mark CHEAPOAIR.COM
THE ONLY WAY TO GO!! (stylized mark) are cancelled; and
For such other and further relief as this Court deems just and equitable.

JURY DEMAND
Plaintiffs hereby demand and request a trial by jury on all issues so triable.
Dated:

New York, New York
March 7, 2014

WILSON, ELSER, MOSKOWITZ, EDELMAN & DICKER LLP

By:

;}D.M~
J ~ C. Zibas (JZ 8970)
Jana A. Slavina (JS 4970)
Attorneys for LBF Travel, Inc.
150 East 42nd Street
New York, New York 10017-5639
(212) 490-3000
Jura.Zibas@wilsonelser.com
Jana. S lavina@wi lsone Iser.com
File No.: 15263.00001
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\\\a WILSON ELS.ER
Wll!IOJ't 8LSl!ll MOSKOWITZ eDE'lMAN I

OIC:Kl!l LLP

Jura C. Zlbas
212.91S.S7S6 (direct)
Jum.Zibas@wilsonelser.com

October 28, 2013

VIAEMAlL
Norman Bluth, Esq.
McBreen & Kopko

500 North Broadway
Suite 129
Jericho, New York 11753
Fareportal et al. v LBF Travel Inc., et al.
File No.: 14787.00001

Re:

Dear Norm:
This letter is to advise you that your clients are continuing to infringe on the trademarks of LBF
Travel, Inc. ("LBF") including directly targeting ·LBF' s keywords and trademarks in google,
yahoo and Microsoft search engines.

According to the reports from "The Search Monitor," since the time your clients discussed
settlement with LBF and LBF provided search terms as part of our good faith settlement
negotiations, it appears plaintiffs have utilized the information learned during settlement
discussions to intentionally, systematically and deliberately bid on the LBF keywords and
trademarks.
We have reports from independent companies to support plaitniffs' ongoing conduct. Please
advise your clients to cease and desist from inappropriately using information obtained during
settlement discussions to intetfere with LBF's business.

V cry irnly yours,
Wilson Elser Moskowitz Edelman & Dicker LLP

~(ffav

Jura C. Zibas
cc: Peter Sullivan, Esq.
Betty Tufariello, Esq.

1.50Eosl 42nd Slreal •New York, NY 10017 • p212.490,3000 • f212 .4Q0.3038
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Slavina, Jana
From:

Zibas, Jura C.

Sent:

Wednesday, October 30, 2013 6:26 PM

To:

Slavlna, Jana

Si.ibJect:

FW:

F~reportal

v. LBF

Attachments: Fareportal v. LBF.PDF

,s:;r~w.· £!.1ll~rn'.",

,Pat9• {.r,"t,U\llt9:.R.1\\~ui,r;\@\l;l.!.ig.~s.~~a. COM}

Sent: Wednesday, October 30, 2013 06:23 PM
To: Ztbas, Jura C.
Cc: NBluth@mklawnyc.com <NBluth@mklawnyc.com>
Subject: Fareportal v. LBF

Jura,
Please see the attached letter.
Peter A. Sulllvan I Partner

Hughes Hubbard & Reed LLP I One Battery Park Plaza I New York, NY 10004-1402
Office 212-837-6709 I Cell 646-415-41161Fax212-299-6709
sulllvan@hugheshubbard.com

**********************************************************************
This email and any files transmitted with it may contain privileged or confidential information. Use,
disclosure, copying or distribution of this message by anyone other than the intended recipient is strictly
prohibited. If you have received this email in error please notify the sender by reply email and destroy
all copies of this message in your possession, custody or control.
***************~******************************************************

i }/5(2()] 1
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Hughes Hubbnrd & lfocd 1.u•

1-Iughes

One Bnttcry Pnrk Pina
New York, New York 10004-1482
Telephone: 212-837-6000

Hubbard

F•x: 2!2·422-4726
hugheshubbHd.com
Pelee A. Sullivan
Direct Dini: 212-837°6709
1ulli111111@hugh~ihulibord.com

October 30, 2013

VIA EMAIL AND FIRST CLASS MAIL

Jura C, Zibas, Esq.
Wilson Elser Moskowitz Edelman & Dickel' LLP
150 E 42nd Street

New York, NY 10017
Re:

Fareportal et al. v. LBF et al.

Dear Jura:
I write in response to your letter of October 28, 2013. We confinned with our client
that it is not engaging in any infringing activity with respect to LBF's trademarks.
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wwo anY ·•
ESTTA519606·

Trsdemsrk Tris/ and Appeal Board E/f?otronro FH/ng sysfem .. hrta'll<t"ltf!

ESTTA f racklng,number:. ··

Filing date:

o2Io41201°3

IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADl:.MARK OFFICE

... BEFORE fHE TRAbEMARk fRIACANbAPPEAC8oARb .

Notice of Opposition
Notice Is hereby given that the following party opposes registration of the indicated application.

Opposer Information
Name
Entity
Address

American Travel Solutions, LLC
Limited Liability Company
Citizenship
615 South Dupont Highway
Dov~r. DE 19901
UNITED STATES

Attorney
Information

Colin O'Brien
PartrJdge IP Law P.C.
161 North Clark Suite 4700
Chicago, IL 60601
UNITED STATES
colin@partrldgeiplaw.com Phone:3126349503

I

I Delaware

Applicant Information
Application No
Opposition Filing
Date
Applicant

Publication date
Opposition
Period Ends

65566395
02/04/2013

01/15/2013
02/1412013

Fareportal, lno.
Ste 1201 213 West 35th Street
New York, NY 10001
UNITED STATES

Goods/Services Affected by Opposition
Class 035. First Use: 2005107101 First Use In Commerce: 2005/07/01
All goods and services In the class are opposed, namely: Advertising services for travel services,
namely, promoting the goods, ·aeivlces, brand Identity and commercial Information and news of travel
anq travel r~la~ed . c9mp~i::iles on the lnte.rriet
Class 039. First Use: 2005/07/01 First Use In Commerce: 2005/07/01
All goods and seivices in the class are opposed, namely: Providing an on-line computer database in
the field of travel information services; travel ahd tour information service; travel and tour ticket
reservation service; travel seivices, hamely, providing fate and rate information for transportation
bookings and reserv at,lons fotfllghts, car refltals, cruises, rail travel, and tours via computer; and
pr.ov1¢iir;g travel lnformatjof:i:aM~ ri~w.',s via .corfiputer •
.< .
Glas.a M'ai ~:1rat l.'.lse: ~ti05i07 /.0i R\rs\ Use rn Coriiqier<;e: '.4,Q0.5J.~7 JE>1 . .
All :g9~ds a n~: ~ervl cesdriJ~e_ clE1ss - a r~ ·ci~pb~~9 , n ~rn.e ly: Pr6vld.lng t.rave1 lodging ihformatlon
s.etvibes and travef !o~gln~· b11)'oklh~l: agerio)' se'Nloes for travele'ts

Grounds for Opposition

I Priority and likelihood of confusion

I Trademark Act section 2(d)

Marks Cited by Opposer as Basis for Opposition
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U.S. Registration
No.

2890981

Application Date

08/14/2003

Registration Date

10/05/2004

Foreign Priority
Date

NONE

Word Mark

CHEAPAIR

Design Mark

CHEAPAIR
•r

•

•

Description
Mark

of

Goods/Services

-

"

;,

'1

•

.

-'"

._. •

#

t,

....

•I
••

-

i

.•

\

,

•

•

·-

-•

•

f

,.

'

NONE

Class 039. First use: First Use: 1994102/01 First Use In Commerce: 1994/02/01
Travel agency services, namely making reservations and bookings for airplane
transportation, car rentals and arranging cruises

U.S. Registration
No.

3813293

Application Date

09/03/2009

Registration Date

07106/2010

Foreign Priority
Date

NONE

Word Mark

CHEAPAIR.COM

Design Mark

Description of
Mark

NONE

Goods/Services

Class 039. First use: First Use: 2003/09/00 First Use In Commerce: 2003/09/00
Travel agency services, namely, making re·servatlons and bookings for airline
transportation, car rentals and arranging cruises
Class 043. First use: First Use: 2003/09/01 First Use In Commerce: 2003/09/01
Travel agency services, namely, making hotel reservations for others

I

Related
Proceedings

Attachments

1 91208345

76537322#TMSN.jpeg ( 1 page)( bytes)
77819777#TMSN.jpeg ( 1 page)( bytes)
AmTrav - Opposition versus Fareportal CHEAPOAIR.COM 13-0204.pdf ( 6
pages )( 18288 bytes )

Certificate of Service
The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of this paper has been served upon all parties, at their address
record by First Class Mail on this date.
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Signature

/Colin O'Brien/

Name

Colin O'Brien

Date

0210412013
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IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE
In The Matter of Application Serial No. 85/566,395
Published in the Oj]iciaJ Gazette on January 15, 2013, in Classes 35, 39 and 43.

AMERICAN TRAVEL SOLUTIONS, LLC
Opposer,

v.

)

)
)

)

Opposition No.

)

FAREPORTAL, INC., d/b/a CHEAP-0-AIR,
Applicant.

)
)

)
)

American Travel Solutions, LLC, (referred to hereafter as "American Travel"), a
Delaware Limited Liability Compm1y with a mailing address of 615 South DuPont Highway,
Dover, Delaware 19901, believes it will be damaged by registration of the mark shown in App.
Ser. No. 85/566,395 and opposes the same.
The grow1ds for opposition are as follows:
1.

Since 1989 American Travel has been a leading aggregator of airline fares and

discounts.
2.

For many years American Travel has used the distinctive names and service

marks CHEAP AIR and CHEAP AIR. COM in connection with its online travel business
throughout the United States and abroad.
3.

The CHEAP AIR and CHEAP AIR.COM marks have been prominently displayed

as the name of American Travel's business and as the name of American Travel website,
<w\vw.cheapair.com>, since 1994.
4.

American Travel owns federal trademark registrations of CHEAP AIR (Reg.

2,890,981, Registered 10/05/04) for "travel agency services, namely making reservations and

Case 1:13-cv-09143-LAK-GWG Document 13
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bookings for airplane transportation, car rentals and arranging cruises" in Class 39; and
CI:J:~AJ>AIRCOl\1

(Reg. No. 3,~13,293, Registered 07/06/10) for "travel agency services,

namely, making reservations and bookings for airline transportation, car rentals and arranging
cruises; travel agency services, namely, making hotel reservations for others" in Classes 39 and
43.

5.

Since 1994, long prior to March 12, 2012, the date on which Fareportal, Inc.,

("Applicant") filed the application opposed herein, Opposer has used the CHEAPAIR mark in
connection with, Inter alta travel agency services, namely making reservations and bookings for
airplane transportation, car rentals and arranging cruises.
6.

Since 2003, long prior to March 12, 2012, the date of the application opposed

herein, American Travel has offered travel agency services, namely making reservations and
bookings for airplane transportation, car rentals and arranging cruises under the
CHEAP AIR.COM service mark.
7.

American Travel has established itself in the field of airfare and other travel

services using the CHEAP AIR and CHEAPAIR. COM marks, and American Travel has spent
hundreds thousands of dollars to promote and distribute materials bearing the mark in interstate
commerce.
8.

As a result of American Travel 's long use, advertising and promotion, the

CHEAP AIR and CHEAPAIR.COM marks are strongly associated with American Travel and
therefore it owns iimnense valuable goodwill in its CHEAP AIR and CHEAP AIR. COM names

and marks.

.-

~
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By virtue of its long-standing inyolvement and prominence in the business of

travel services;.American Travel's CHE,APAIR and CHEAP AIR.COM names and marks have
become nationally recognized. ·.
10,

On March 12, 2012, Applicant filed an application, SeriaI·No. 85/556,395; to

register the mark CHEAPOAIR.COM (''the Infringing Mark") in connection with the following
services:
"Advertising services for travel services, namely, promoting the goods, services,
brand identity and commercial information, and news of travel and travel related
companies on the Internet," in International Class ·3S; ..
.

•.

>

,

..

"Providing an on-line computer datab.ase in the field of travel information
services; travel and tour information service; travel and tour ticket reservation
service; travel services, namely, pro;viding .fare imd rate information for
transportation bookings and reservations for flights, car rentals, cruises, rail travel,
and tours via computer; and pr_ovidi11g_trayel,i,11for.1nation and news via computer"
in International Class 39; and
· · ·· · ··· ··
"Providing travel lodging information services and travel lodging booking agency
services for travelers" in International Class 43.
11.

Applicant's application to register the Infringing Mark is without American

Travel's consent.
12.

Applicant's proposed use of the Infringing Mark in connection with the applied-

for services is likely to cause confusion, mistake or deception with American Travel's
CHEAP AIR and CHEAP AIR. COM name and marks.
13.

American Travel has previously filed an opposition against applicant's trademark

application number 85/564,451 for WWW. CHEA PO AIR. COM the number for that opposition is

91208345.
14.

Accordingly, Applicant's registration of the Infringing Mark wouJd damage

American Travel.

. 1-

Case 1:13-cv-09143-LAK-GWG Document 13

Filed 03/07/14 Page 74 of 92

CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION

I, Colin T.J. O'Brien, hereby certify that this Notice of Opposition is being electronically

transmitted to the Patent and Trademark Office on this 4th day of February, 2013.
c/Colin O'Brien

6-
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Trademark Trial and Appeal Board /!Electronic Fi/Ing System. h!tt:l'Hesfts

ESTTA Tracking 11umber:
Fiiing dat&~

IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE
BEFORE THE TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

Notice of Opposition
Notice is hereby given that the following party opposes registration of the Indicated application.

Opposer Information
Name

American Travel Solutions, LLC

Granted to Date
of previous
extension

12108/2012

Address

615 South DuPont Highway
Dover, DE 19901
UNITED STATES

Attorney
information

Colin O'Brien
Partridge IP Law P.C.
161 North ClarkSuite 4700
Chicago, IL 60601
UNITED STATES
colln@partrldgeiplaw.com Phone:3126349503

Applicant Information
Application No

85564451

Publication date

10/09/2012

Opposition Filing
Date

12/07/2012

Opposition
Period Ends

12108/2012

Applicant

Fareportal, Inc.
Ste 1201 213 West 35th Street
New York, NY 10001
UNITED STATES

Goods/Services Affected by Opposition
Class 039. First Use: 2005/07/01 First Use In Commerce: 2005/07/01
All goods and services In the class are opposed, namely: Providing an on-line computer database In
the field of travel Information services; travel and tour Information service; travel and tour ticket
reservation service; travel services, namely, providing fare and rate Information for transportation
bookings and reservations for flights, car rentals, cruises, rail travel, and tours via computer; and
providing travel information and news via computer
Class 043. First Use: 2005/07/01 First Use In Commerce: 2005/07/01
All goods and services In the class are opposed, namely: Providing travel lodging information
services and travel lodging booking agency services for travelers

Grounds for Opposition

I Priority and likelihood of confusion

I Trademark Act section 2(d)

Marks Cited by Opposer as Basis for Opposition
U.S. Registration
No.

3813293

Application Date

09/03/2009

UGPlo

ESTT A.5~976~
121071201 ~

gov
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Foreign Priority
Date

Registration Date

07106/2010

Word Mark

CHEAPAIR.COM

NONE

Design Mark

Description of
Mark

NONE

Goods/Services

Class 039. First use: First Use: 2003109100 First Use In Commerce: 2003/09/00
Travel agency services, namely, making reservations and bookings for airline
transportation, car rentals and arranging cruises
Class 043. First use: First Use: 2003109/01 First Use In Commerce: 2003/09/01
Travel agency services, namely, making hotel reservations for others

U.S. Registration

2890981

Appllcatlon Date

08/1412003

Registration Date

1010512004

Foreign Priority
Date

NONE

Word Mark

CHEAPAIR

No.

Design Mark

Description of

Mark
Goods/Services

Class 039. First use: First Use: 1994/02101 First Use In Commerce: 1994/02/01
Travel agency services, namely making reservations and bookings for airplane
transportation, car rentals and arranging cruises

Attachments

77819777#TMSN.Jpeg ( 1 page)( bytes)
76537322#TMSN.jpeg ( 1 page )( bytes )
AmTrav- Opposition versus Fareportal 12-1204.pdf ( 6 pages )(21475 bytes)

Certificate of Service
The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of this paper has been served upon all parties, at their address
record by First Class Mail on this date.

Signature

/Colin O'Brien/

Name

Colin O'Brien

Date

12/0712012

\.
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IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

In The Matter of Application Serial No. 85/564,451.
Published in the Official Gazette on October 9, 2012, in Class 39.
AMERICAN TRAVEL SOLUTIONS, LLC

Opposer,

v.

)
)
)

)

FAREPORTAL, INC., d/b/a CHEAP-0-AIR,

Applicant.

Opposition No.

)
)
)
)
)

American Travel Solutions, LLC, (referred to hereafter as "American Travel"), a
Delaware Limited Liability Company with a mailing address of 615 South DuPont Highway,
Dover, Delaware 19901, believes it will be damaged by registration of the mark shown in App.
Ser. No. 85/564,451 and opposes the same.

The groWlds for opposition are as follows:
1.

Since 1989 American Travel has been a leading aggregator of airline fares and

discounts.
2.

For many years American Travel has used the distinctive names and service

marks CHEAPAIR and CHEAPAIR.COM in connection with its online travel business
throughout the United States and abroad.

3.

The CHEAPAIR and CHEAPAIR.COM marks have been prominently displayed

as the name of Americm1 Travel's business and as the name of American Travel website,

<www.cheapair.com>, since 1994.
4.

American Travel owns federal trademark registrations of CHEAP AIR (Reg.

2890981, Registered 10/05/04) for "travel agency services, nrunely making reservations and
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bookings for airplane transportation, car rentals and arranging cruises" in Class 39; and
CHEAPAIR.COM (Reg. No. 3,813,293, Registered 07/06/10) for"travel agency services,
namely, making reservations and bookings for airline transportation, car rentals and urranging
cruises; travel agency services, namely, making hotel reservations for others" in Classes 39 and
4'.f.
5.

Since 1994, long prior to March 8, 2012, the date on which Fareportal, Inc.,

("Applicant") filed the application opposed herein, Opposer h&S used the CHEAPAIR mark in
cormection with, inter alia travel agency services, namely making reservations and bookings for
airplane transportation, car rentals and arranging cruises.
6.

Since 2003, long prior to March 8, 2012, the date of the application opposed

herein, American Travel has offered travel agency services, namely making reservations and
bookings for airplane transportation, car rentals and arranging cruises under the
CHEAPAIR.COM service mark.

7.

American Travel has established itself in the field of airfare and other travel

services using the CHEAPAIR and CHEAPAIR.COM marks, and American Travel has spent
hundreds thousands of dollars to promote and distribute materials bearing the mark in interstate
commerce.
8.

As a result of Aniericru1 Travel 's long use, advertising and promotion, lhe

CHEAPAIR and CHEAPAIR.COM marks are strongly associated with American Travel and
therefore it owns immense valuable goodwill in its CHEAP AIR and CHEAP AIR. COM names
and marks.
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By virtue of its long-standing involvement and prominence in the business of

travel services, American Travel's CHEAPAIR and CHEAP AIR.COM names and marks have
become nationally recognized.

I 0.

On March 8, 2012, Applicant filed an application, Serial No. 85/564,451, to

register the mark CHEAPOAIR. COM ("the Infringing Mark") in connection with the following
services:
"providing an on-line computer database in the field of travel information
services; travel and tour information service; travel and tour ticket reservation
service; travel services, namely, providing fare and rate information for
transportation bookings and reservations for flights, car rentals, cruises, rail travel,
and tours via computer; and providing travel information and news via computer,"
in International Class 39.
11.

Applicant's application to register the Infringing Mark is without American

Travel's consent.
12.

Applicant's proposed use of the Infringing Mark in connection with the applied-

for services is likely to cause confusion, mistake or deception with American Travel's
CHEAPAIR and CHEAPAIR.COM name and marks.
13.

Accordingly, Applicant1s registration of the Infringing Mark would damage

American Travel.

J-
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WHEREFORE, American Travel prays that its Opposition be sustained and registration
of Application Serial No. 85/564,451, be refused.

Opposer submits the requisite filing fee of $600. Please address all correspondence to
Mark V.B. Partridge, Partridge IP Law, P.C., 161 North Clark Street, Suite 4700, Chicago,
Illinois 60601.
PARTRIDGE IP LAW, P.C.

Dated: December 7, 2012

By: s/Colin T.J. O'Brien

Mark V. B. Partridge
Colin T.J. O'~rien
Jordan A. Arnot
161 North Clark, Suite 4700
Chicago, Dlinois 60601
(312) 634-9500

Attorneys for Opposer

Case 1:13-cv-09143-LAK-GWG Document 13

Filed 03/07/14 Page 83 of 92

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I, Colin T.J. O'Brien, hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing NOTICE OF
OPPOSITION was served upon 213 West 35111 Street, Suite 1201, New York, New York,
10001, via first-class mail, on this 7th day of December, 2012.

s/Colin T,J. O'Brien

·s-
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION

I, Colin T.J. O'Brien, hereby certify that this Notice of Opposition is being electronically
transmitted to the Patent and Trademark Office on this 7th day of December, 2012.

c/Colin O'Brien
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LBF Travel, Inc. v. Fareportal, Inc. et al, Docket No. 1:13-cv-09143 (S.D.N.Y. Dec 27, 2013), Court Docket

General Information

Court

United States District Court for the Southern District of New
York; United States District Court for the Southern District of
New York

Federal Nature of Suit

Property Rights - Trademark[840]

Docket Number

1:13-cv-09143
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